
NOTICE OF REGULAR BOARD MEETING OF  
THE UPPER SAN JUAN HEALTH SERVICE DISTRICT 

d/b/a PAGOSA SPRINGS MEDICAL CENTER 
Tuesday, June 28, 2022, at 5:30 PM 

The Board Room (direct access – northeast entrance) 
95 South Pagosa Blvd., Pagosa Springs, CO 81147 

DUE TO THE PANDEMIC, IN-PERSON ATTENDEES WILL BE: 
LIMITED, SCREENED PRIOR TO ENTERING THE MEETING, AND 

REQUIRED TO WEAR A MASK 

Please use this link to join the meeting: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88304467907 
or telephone (346) 248-7799 or (669) 900-6833 

Zoom Meeting ID: 883 0446 7907 

AGENDA 

1) CALL TO ORDER; ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS OF THE BOARD
a) Confirmation of quorum
b) Board member self-disclosure of actual, potential or perceived conflicts of interest
c) Approval of the Agenda (and changes, if any)

2) PUBLIC COMMENT  This is an opportunity for the public to make comment and/or address
USJHSD Board.  Persons wishing to address the Board need to notify the Clerk to the Board, Heather
Thomas, prior to the start of the meeting.  All public comments shall be limited to matters under the
jurisdiction of the Board and shall be expressly limited to three (3) minutes per person.  The Board is
not required to respond to or discuss public comments.  No action will be taken at this meeting on
public comments.

3) PRESENTATIONS
a) 2021 AUDIT:  Zoom presentation of the 2021 audit report and opinion of the auditor by Kami

Maztek of Dingus, Zarecor & Associates, PLLC. As noted in the financial report, the auditor
presented (via Zoom) the audit to the PSMC Finance Committee; the Finance Committee
recommends the Board accept the audit. The auditor has three letters to the Board (at pages 2, 3,
4, 6 and 7 of 66 pages) summarizing key matters regarding the auditor’s scope of work and opinion.

b) PSMC’s EMS and Ambulance Services presentation by Chief Jason Webb with an overview of
PSMC’s services. 

4) REPORTS
a) Oral Reports (may be accompanied by a written report)

i) Chair Report Chair Matt Mees 



Dr. Rhonda Webb 
Chair Mees and Vice Chair Kate Alfred 
Chair Mees, Dir. Dr. Pruitt and CEO R.Webb 
Chair Mees and COO K.Douglas 

ii) CEO Report
iii) Executive Committee
iv) Foundation Committee
v) Facilities Committee
vi) Strategic Planning Committee
vii) Finance Committee & Report Treas.-Sec. Zeigler and CFO C.Keplinger 

b) Written Reports (no oral report unless the Board has questions)
COO-CNO, Kathee Douglas i) Operations Report

ii) Medical Staff Report Chief of Staff, Dr. John Wisneski 

5) EXECUTIVE SESSION  There will be an executive session pursuant to the following subparagraphs
of C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4):

 (a) the possible purchase, acquisition, lease, transfer, or sale of real property owned by James
Pruitt Properties LLC;

 (b) conferences with an attorney for USJHSD for the purpose of receiving legal advice on
specific legal questions; and

 (e) determining positions relative to matters that may be subject to negotiations; developing
strategy for negotiations; and instructing negotiators.

Further, the Board reserves the right to meet in executive session for any other purpose allowed 
and topic announced at open session of the meeting, in accordance with C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4). 

6) DECISION AGENDA
a) Consideration of Resolution 2022-16 acceptance of the 2021 audit of the Upper San Juan Health

Service District.
b) Consideration of Resolution 2022-17 regarding next steps with respect to the purchase of the real

property owned by Pruitt Properties, LLC.
i) Resolution 2022-17 OPTION A to proceed with the purchase of the Pruitt Building.
ii) Resolution 2022-17 OPTION B not to proceed with the purchase of the Pruitt Building

7) CONSENT AGENDA (The Consent Agenda is intended to allow Board approval, by a single motion,
of matters that are considered routine. There will be no separate discussion of Consent Agenda matters
unless requested.)
a) Approval of Board Member absences:

i) Regular meeting of 06/28/2022
b) Approval of Minutes for the following meeting(s):

i) Regular Meeting of: 05/24/2022.
c) Approval of Medical Staff report recommendations for new or renewal of provider privileges.

8) OTHER BUSINESS

9) ADJOURN
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT  

Board of Directors 
Upper San Juan Health Service District 
 doing business as Pagosa Springs Medical Center 
Pagosa Springs, Colorado 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Upper San Juan Health Service District doing 
business as Pagosa Springs Medical Center (the District) as of and for the years ended December 31, 2021 
and 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the District’s 
basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the District as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the changes in its financial 
position and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are required to be independent of the District, and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

 
  

PRESENTATIONS 3.a.



 

2 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements, including omissions, are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on 
the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time.  

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis on pages 4 through 7 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. 
Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. 
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures 
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
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Supplementary Information  

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. 
The schedule of budget and actual revenues and expenses is presented for purposes of additional analysis 
and is not a required part of the financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of 
federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance and 
is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management 
and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare 
the financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling 
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial 
statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is 
fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 20, 2022, 
on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, and other matters 
for the year ended December 31, 2021. We issued a similar report for the year ended December 31, 2020, 
dated May 10, 2021, which has not been included with the 2021 financial compliance report. The purpose 
of those reports is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting 
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
District’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an 
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance.  

Dingus, Zarecor & Associates PLLC 
Spokane Valley, Washington  
June 20, 2022 
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Our discussion and analysis of Upper San Juan Health Service District doing business as Pagosa Springs 
Medical Center’s (the District) financial performance provides an overview of the District’s financial 
activities for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. Please read it in conjunction with the 
District’s financial statements, which begin on page 8. 

Financial Highlights 

 The District’s net position increased $8,757,564, or 67.1 percent, in 2021, and $2,123,358, or 
19.4 percent, in 2020. 

 The District reported operating loss in 2021 of $592,269 and operating loss in 2020 of 
$1,223,671. Income in 2021 increased by $631,402, or 51.6 percent, over the income reported in 
2020. Operating income in 2020 decreased by $1,466,112, or 604.7 percent compared to 2019. 

 Nonoperating revenues (expenses) increased by $2,951,594, or 167.4 percent, in 2021 compared 
to 2020. Nonoperating revenues (expenses) increased by $1,422,405, or 417.7 percent, in 2020 
compared to 2019. 

Using this Annual Report 

The District’s financial statements consist of three statements—a Statement of Net Position; a Statement 
of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position; and a Statement of Cash Flows. These financial 
statements and related notes provide information about the activities of the District, including resources 
held by the District that are designated for specific purposes by contributors, grantors, or enabling 
legislation. 

The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

Our analysis of the District’s finances begins on page 4. One of the most important questions asked about 
the District’s finances is, “Is the District as a whole better or worse off as a result of the year’s activities?” 
The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
report information about the District’s resources and its activities in a way that helps answer this question. 
These statements include all restricted and unrestricted assets and all liabilities using the accrual basis of 
accounting. All of the current year’s revenues and expenses are taken into account regardless of when the 
cash is received or paid. 

These statements report the District’s net position and changes in it. The difference between assets and 
liabilities is one way to measure the District’s financial health, or financial position. Over time, increases 
or decreases in the District’s net assets are one indicator of whether its financial health is improving or 
deteriorating. You will need to consider other nonfinancial factors, however, such as changes in the 
District’s patient base and measures of the quality of service it provides to the community, as well as the 
local economic factors to assess the overall health of the District. 

The Statement of Cash Flows 

The final required statement is the Statement of Cash Flows. The statement reports cash receipts, cash 
payments, and net changes in cash resulting from operations, investing, and financing activities. This 
statement provides meaningful information on how the District’s cash was generated and how it was used. 

The District’s Net Position 

The District’s net position is the difference between its assets and liabilities reported in the Statements of 
Net Position on pages 8 and 9. The District’s net position increased by $8,757,564, or 67.1 percent, in 
2021, and $2,123,358, or 19.4 percent, in 2020. 
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Table 1.  Net Position

2021 2020 2019

Assets
Current assets $ 25,772,922      $ 24,763,261      $ 13,073,610      
Other noncurrent assets 1,115,298        878,731           1,572,068        
Capital assets, net 21,765,648      22,271,693      21,645,485      

Total assets $ 48,653,868      $ 47,913,685      $ 36,291,163      

Liabilities
Current liabilities $ 7,177,118        $ 11,469,024      $ 4,828,495        
Capital lease obligations, less current maturities -                   61,030             270,221           
Long-term debt, less current maturities 18,021,514      22,048,284      18,991,684      

Total liabilities 25,198,632      33,578,338      24,090,400      

Deferred inflows of resources
Property tax revenue 1,434,016        1,277,441        1,266,215        
Deferred inflow from debt refinancing 205,750           -                   -                  

Total deferred inflows of resources 1,639,766        1,277,441        1,266,215        

Net position
Net investment in capital assets 3,076,911        2,991,549        1,478,152        
Restricted 1,115,298        878,731           1,572,068        
Unrestricted 17,623,261      9,187,626        7,884,328        

Total net position 21,815,470      13,057,906      10,934,548      

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and net position $ 48,653,868      $ 47,913,685      $ 36,291,163      

The significant changes in assets and liabilities in 2021 were as follows: 

 Total assets for the District were $48,653,868 at the end of 2021, an increase of $740,183 from 
the balance of $47,913,685 at the end of 2020. 

Current assets increased $1,009,661 from $24,763,261 in 2020 to $25,772,922 in 2021 due to 
increased cash and cash equivalents primarily from significant Medicare Accelerated Payments 
and CARES Act Provider Relief receipts. Net patient receivables of $4,143,296 in 2021 increased 
$722,960 from $3,420,336 at the end of 2020. 

 Total liabilities for the District were $25,198,632 in 2021, a decrease of $8,379,706 from the 
balance of $33,578,338 in 2020. 

Current liabilities decreased $4,291,906 from $11,469,024 at the end of 2020 to $7,177,118 at the 
end of 2021 primarily due to significant decreases in balances related to Medicare Accelerated 
Payments payable and unearned CARES Act Provider Relief Fund. 

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations decreased $4,087,800 from $22,109,314 in 2020 to a 
balance of $18,021,514 in 2021. 
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Operating Results and Changes in the District’s Net Position 

In 2021, the District’s net position increased by $8,757,564, or 67.1 percent, as shown in Table 2. The 
District’s net position increased by $2,123,358, or 19.4 percent, in 2020. 
 
Table 2.  Operating Results and Changes in Net Position

2021 2020 2019

Operating revenues
Net patient service revenue $ 35,738,866 $ 32,142,883 $ 32,584,951
340B contract pharmacy 1,420,266 1,818,620 1,842,227
Electronic health records incentive payment -     -     143,657
Grants 266,109 181,058 -     
Other 208,716 185,820 227,806

Total operating revenues 37,633,957 34,328,381 34,798,641

Operating expenses
Salaries and benefits 24,055,373 22,441,169 21,986,392
Supplies 6,054,530 5,795,916 4,915,129
Depreciation and amortization 1,802,311 1,793,074 1,877,244
Other 6,314,012 5,521,893 5,777,435

Total operating expenses 38,226,226 35,552,052 34,556,200

Operating income (loss) (592,269) (1,223,671) 242,441

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Property taxes 1,434,731 1,405,122 1,262,092
Interest expense (976,848) (947,263) (1,014,962)
CARES Act Provider Relief Fund 4,225,159 1,234,026 -     
Interest income 31,470 71,033 93,383

Total nonoperating revenues, net 4,714,512 1,762,918 340,513

Excess of revenues before capital grants and contributions 4,122,243 539,247 582,954

Gain on forgiveness of Paycheck Protection Program Loan 3,740,044 -     -     
Capital grants and contributions 895,277 1,584,111 605,664

Change in net position 8,757,564 2,123,358 1,188,618
Net position, beginning of year 13,057,906 10,934,548 9,745,930

Net position, end of year $ 21,815,470 $ 13,057,906 $ 10,934,548
    

Operating Results 

The first component of the overall change in the District’s net position is operating income – the 
difference between the revenue and the expenses incurred to perform those services. Operating loss 
decreased $631,402 from 2020 to 2021. 

The primary component of the change in operating income for 2021 compared to 2020 is: 

 Net patient service revenue increased $3,595,983 due to an increase in patient volumes. 

Overall, net patient service revenue increased between 2020 and 2021 by $3,595,983. In 2020, overall net 
patient service revenue decreased $442,068 from 2019.

PRESENTATIONS 3.a.



Upper San Juan Health Service District  
 doing business as Pagosa Springs Medical Center 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 

7 

Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses 

Nonoperating activity for 2021 and 2020 consists primarily of property taxes levied for repayment of the 
District’s bonds, CARES Act Provider Relief Fund revenue, interest expense, and interest income. Net 
nonoperating revenues and expenses increased by $2,951,594, or 167.4 percent, in 2021. 

The District recognized CARES Act Provider Relief Funds of $4,225,159 during 2021. The District also 
recognized a $3,740,044 gain on the forgiveness of the Paycheck Protection Program loan. 

The District’s Cash Flows 

Changes in the District’s cash flows are consistent with changes in operating results and nonoperating 
revenues and expenses discussed earlier. 

Capital Asset and Debt Administration 

Capital Assets 

Net capital assets decreased in 2021 by $506,045, or 2.3 percent, from 2020. This net decrease includes 
purchases (including construction in progress) of $1,296,266 and depreciation expense of $1,802,311. Net 
capital assets increased $626,208, or 2.9 percent, from 2019 to 2020. This net increase includes purchases 
(including construction in progress) of $2,419,282 and depreciation expense of $1,793,074. 

At the end of 2021, the District had $21,765,648 in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, as 
detailed in Note 4 to the financial statements. 

Debt 

At December 31, 2021, the District had $18,422,545 in long-term debt obligations, a decrease of 
$781,634 from December 31, 2020. At December 31, 2020, the District had $19,204,179 in long-term 
debt obligations. 

The District’s formal debt issuances must be approved by the District’s Board of Directors. The amount 
of debt issued is subject to limitations that apply to the District. There have been no changes in the 
District’s debt ratings in the past two years. 

Contacting the District’s Financial Management 

This financial report is designed to provide our patients, suppliers, taxpayers, and creditors with a general 
overview of the District’s finances and to show the District’s accountability for the money it receives. If 
you have questions about this report or need additional information, contact the District’s office, at 
Pagosa Springs Medical Center, 95 S Pagosa Blvd, Pagosa Springs, CO 81147. 
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ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 17,037,727 $ 17,120,704
Receivables:

Patient accounts 4,143,296 3,420,336
Property tax levy 1,434,016    1,277,441
Estimated third-party payor settlements 639,000 760,708
Other 515,223 294,660

Inventories 1,801,605 1,651,313
Prepaid expenses 202,055 238,099

Total current assets 25,772,922 24,763,261

Noncurrent assets
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted for debt service 1,115,298 878,731
Capital assets, net 21,765,648 22,271,693

Total noncurrent assets 22,880,946 23,150,424

Total assets $ 48,653,868 $ 47,913,685

2021 2020

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements. 
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LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, 
AND NET POSITION

Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 893,997 $ 738,456
Refunds payable 254,551 501,098
Accrued compensation and related liabilities 1,433,741 1,234,855
Estimated third-party payor settlements 902,277 -     
Unearned CARES Act Provider Relief Fund 669,775 3,858,789
Medicare Accelerated Payments payable 2,561,304 4,224,952
Accrued interest payable 60,442 75,965
Current maturities of capital lease obligations 61,031 169,909
Current maturities of long-term debt 340,000 665,000

Total current liabilities 7,177,118 11,469,024

Noncurrent liabilities
Paycheck Protection Program loan -     3,740,044
Capital lease obligations, less current maturities -     61,030
Long-term debt, less current maturities 18,021,514 18,308,240

Total noncurrent liabilities 18,021,514 22,109,314

Total liabilities 25,198,632 33,578,338

Deferred inflows of resources
Property tax revenue 1,434,016 1,277,441
Deferred inflow from debt refinancing 205,750 -     

Total deferred inflows of resources 1,639,766 1,277,441

Net position
Net investment in capital assets 3,076,911 2,991,549
Restricted 1,115,298 878,731
Unrestricted 17,623,261 9,187,626

Total net position 21,815,470 13,057,906

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and net position $ 48,653,868 $ 47,913,685

2021 2020

 
See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Operating revenues
Net patient service revenue $ 35,738,866      $ 32,142,883    
340B contract pharmacy 1,420,266 1,818,620
Grants 266,109 181,058
Other 208,716           185,820         

Total operating revenues 37,633,957      34,328,381

Operating expenses
Salaries and wages 20,776,614 19,159,427
Employee benefits 3,278,759 3,281,742
Professional fees and other purchased services 2,440,059 2,142,812
Supplies 6,054,530 5,795,916
Utilities 430,349 361,181
Depreciation and amortization 1,802,311 1,793,074
Leases and rentals 451,270 438,284
Repairs and maintenance 539,480 549,092
Provider fees 929,460 800,963
Insurance 339,605 327,437
Other 1,183,789 902,124

Total operating expenses 38,226,226      35,552,052

Operating loss (592,269)          (1,223,671)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Property taxes 1,434,731 1,405,122
Interest expense (976,848) (947,263)
CARES Act Provider Relief Fund 4,225,159 1,234,026
Interest income 31,470 71,033

Total nonoperating revenues, net 4,714,512        1,762,918      

Excess of revenues over expenses before gain on forgiveness of Paycheck
 Progection Program loan and capital grants and contributions 4,122,243 539,247

Gain on forgiveness of Paycheck Protection Program loan 3,740,044 -     
Capital grants and contributions 895,277 1,584,111

Change in net position 8,757,564 2,123,358
Net position, beginning of year 13,057,906      10,934,548

Net position, end of year $ 21,815,470      $ 13,057,906
  

2021 2020

 
See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

PRESENTATIONS 3.a.



Upper San Juan Health Service District  
 doing business as Pagosa Springs Medical Center 
Statements of Cash Flows 
Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

11 

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from and on behalf of patients $ 37,460,157 $ 34,486,789
Other receipts 254,262 377,944
Payments to and on behalf of employees (23,856,487) (23,136,778)
Payments to suppliers and contractors (12,573,796) (12,243,762)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 1,284,136 (515,807)

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
Receipt of CARES Act Provider Relief Fund 1,036,145 5,092,815
Receipt of Medicare Accelerated Payments - 4,224,952
Repayment of Medicare Accelerated Payments (1,663,648) -   
Proceeds from the Paycheck Protection Program loan - 3,740,044
Property taxes 1,434,731 1,405,122

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 807,228 14,462,933

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Principal payments on capital lease obligations (169,908) (226,380)
Principal payments on long-term debt (9,035,000) (640,000)
Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt 8,675,266 -   
Purchase of capital assets (1,296,266) (2,419,282)
Interest paid on long-term debt and capital lease obligations (1,038,613) (968,072)
Capital grants and contributions 895,277 1,584,111

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (1,969,244) (2,669,623)

Cash flows from investing activities, investment income 31,470 71,033

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 153,590 11,348,536
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 17,999,435 6,650,899

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 18,153,025 $ 17,999,435

2021 2020

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents
to the Statements of Net Position

Cash and cash equivalents $ 17,037,727 $ 17,120,704
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted for debt service 1,115,298 878,731

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 18,153,025 $ 17,999,435

Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash Provided by
(Used in) Operating Activities

Operating loss $ (592,269) $ (1,223,671)

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 1,802,311 1,793,074
Provision for bad debts 2,547,165 1,730,053
(Increase) decrease in assets:

Receivables:
Patient accounts (3,270,125) (725,327)
Estimated third-party payor settlements 121,708 (479,440)
Other (220,563) 11,066

Inventories (150,292) (133,613)
Prepaid expenses 36,044 (39,291)

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable 155,541 (757,075)
Refunds payable (246,547) 4,026
Accrued compensation and related liabilities 198,886 (695,609)
Estimated third-party payor settlements 902,277 -   

$ 1,284,136 $ (515,807)Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

20202021

Noncash Noncapital Financing Activities – During the year ended December 31, 2021, the District 
recorded a $3,740,044 gain on forgiveness of the Paycheck Protection Program loan.  

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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 1. Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: 

a. Reporting Entity 

Upper San Juan Health Service District doing business as Pagosa Springs Medical Center (the 
District) was organized to operate, maintain, and provide health services to the citizens of 
Archuleta County and a small portion of Hinsdale and Mineral Counties in the state of 
Colorado. As organized, the District is exempt from paying federal income tax. The District is 
governed by a Board of Directors consisting of members that must be qualified electors of the 
District. Members are elected to staggered four-year terms of office. 

The District operates a licensed 11-bed hospital, a rural health clinic, and an ambulance service 
in Pagosa Springs, Colorado. The services provided include medical-surgical, pediatrics, 
surgery, emergency room, oncology, pain management clinic, and related ancillary services 
(laboratory, imaging, cardiology, physical therapy, respiratory therapy, etc.). 

b. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Use of estimates – The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 

Enterprise fund accounting – The District’s accounting policies conform to accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America as applicable to proprietary funds 
of governments. The District uses enterprise fund accounting. Revenues and expenses are 
recognized on the accrual basis using the economic resources measurement focus. 

Cash and cash equivalents – Cash and cash equivalents include investments in highly liquid 
debt instruments with an original maturity of three months or less. 

Prepaid expenses – Prepaid expenses are expenses paid during the year relating to expenses 
incurred in future periods. Prepaid expenses are amortized over the expected benefit period of 
the related expense.  

Inventories – Inventories are stated at cost on the first-in, first-out method. Inventories consist 
of pharmaceutical, medical-surgical, and other supplies used in the operation of the District. 

Capital assets – The District capitalizes assets whose costs exceed $5,000 and have an 
estimated useful life of at least two years. Major expenses for capital assets, including repairs 
that increase the useful lives, are capitalized. Maintenance, repairs, and minor renewals are 
accounted for as expenses are incurred. Capital assets are reported at historical cost or their 
estimated fair value at the date of donation. Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful 
life of each class of depreciable asset and computed using the straight-line method.  

Useful lives are estimated as follows: 

 Buildings and improvements  5 to 39 years 
 Equipment  2 to 20 years
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 1. Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued): 

b. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Accrued compensated absences – Employees earn paid time off at varying rates depending on 
years of service. Employees must be full-time with at least one month of continuous 
employment in order to earn paid time off. Accumulated paid time off cannot exceed certain 
limits, depending on the employee’s position. All paid time off is accrued and expensed when 
earned. 

Bond premiums – Bond premiums are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of 
the bond issue. 

Net position – The net position of the District is classified into three components. Net 
investment in capital assets consists of the District’s capital assets net of accumulated 
depreciation and is reduced by the current balances of any outstanding borrowings used to 
finance the purchase or construction of those assets. Restricted net position is composed of 
noncapital assets that must be used for a particular purpose, as specified by creditors, grantors, 
or contributors external to the District. Unrestricted net position is composed of remaining net 
position that does not meet the definition of net investment in capital assets or restricted. 

Restricted resources – When the District has both restricted and unrestricted resources 
available to finance a particular program, it is the District’s policy to use restricted resources 
before unrestricted resources. 

Operating revenues and expenses – The District’s statements of revenues, expenses, and 
changes in net position distinguish between operating and nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
Operating revenues result from exchange transactions, including grants for specific operating 
activities associated with providing healthcare services — the District’s principal activity. 
Nonexchange revenues, including taxes and contributions received for purposes other than 
capital asset acquisitions, are reported as nonoperating revenues. Operating expenses are all 
expenses incurred to provide healthcare services other than financing costs. 

Grants and contributions – From time to time, the District receives federal, state, and county 
grants, as well as contributions from individuals and private organizations. Revenues from 
grants and contributions (including contributions of capital assets) are recognized when all 
eligibility requirements, including time requirements, are met. Grants and contributions may be 
restricted for either specific operating purposes or for capital purposes. Grants that are 
unrestricted or that are restricted to a specific operating purpose are reported as operating 
revenues. Grants that are used to subsidize operating deficits are reported as nonoperating 
revenues. Contributions, except for capital contributions, are reported as nonoperating 
revenues. Amounts restricted to capital acquisitions are reported after nonoperating revenues 
and expenses. 
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 1. Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued): 

b. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Upcoming accounting standard pronouncements – In June 2017, the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued Statement No. 87, Leases, which increases the 
usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets 
and liabilities for leases previously classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of 
resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. It 
establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases 
are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this statement, a lessee is required 
to recognize a lease liability and an intangible asset representing the lessee’s right to use the 
leased asset, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about 
governments’ leasing activities. The new guidance is effective for the District’s year ending 
December 31, 2022, although earlier application is encouraged. The District has not elected to 
implement this statement early; however, management is still evaluating the impact, if any, of 
this statement in the year of adoption.  
 
In May 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology 
Arrangements. The objectives of this statement are to (1) define a subscription-based 
information technology arrangement (SBITA); (2) establish that a SBITA results in a right-to-
use subscription asset—an intangible asset—and a corresponding subscription liability; (3) 
provide the capitalization criteria for outlays other than subscription payments, including 
implementation costs of a SBITA; and (4) require note disclosures regarding a SBITA. The 
new guidance is effective for the District’s year ending December 31, 2023. Management is 
currently evaluating the effect this statement will have on the financial statements and related 
disclosures.  
 
Subsequent events – Subsequent events have been reviewed through June 20, 2022, the date on 
which the financial statements were available to be issued. 

 
 2. Bank Deposits and Investments:  

Deposits: 

Under Colorado State statute, the Commercial Bank Code Public Deposit Protection Act of 1989 
(PDPA) protects public funds held in bank deposit accounts in the event that the bank holding the 
public deposits becomes insolvent. As defined by the PDPA, deposit accounts include checking, 
savings, bank money market, and certificate of deposit accounts. Banks must deliver bank assets 
(usually securities) to a third-party institution, which are pledged to the Colorado Division of 
Banking, for all Colorado public depositors.  

The District’s deposits and certificates of deposit are entirely covered by the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation or by deposits collateralized by securities not held in the District’s name 
under the PDPA. 

Investments: 

Colorado State statutes authorize the District to invest in obligations of the United States Treasury, 
agencies and instrumentalities, commercial paper, repurchase agreements, money market funds, and 
local government investment pools with a maturity date of no more than five years from the date of 
purchase. 
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 2. Bank Deposits and Investments (continued):  

Investments (continued)  

Custodial credit risk – Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a failure of the 
counterparty, the District will not be able to recover the value of the deposits or investments that are 
in the possession of an outside party. The District’s investment policy does not contain policy 
requirements that would limit the exposure to custodial credit risk for investments. 

Credit risk – Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the 
holder of the investment. This is typically measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally 
recognized statistical rating organization. The District has a policy specifically requiring or limiting 
investments of this type. 

Concentration of credit risk – Concentration of credit risk is the inability to recover the value of 
deposits, investments, or collateral securities in the possession of an outside party caused by a lack 
of diversification (investments acquired from a single issuer). The District has a policy limiting the 
amount it may invest in any one issuer or multiple issuers. 

Interest rate risk – Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates could adversely 
affect an investment’s fair value. The District has a policy specifically managing its exposure to fair 
value losses arising from changing interest rates. 

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the District had invested $1,603,215 and $1,602,444, respectively, 
in the Colorado Local Government Liquid Asset Trust (Colotrust), an investment vehicle 
established for local government entities in Colorado to pool surplus funds. Colotrust operates 
similarly to a money market fund and each share is equal in value to $1.00. A designated custodial 
bank provides safekeeping and depository services to Colotrust in connection with the direct 
investment and withdrawal functions of Colotrust. Substantially all securities owned by Colotrust 
are held by the Federal Reserve Bank in the account maintained for the custodial bank. The 
custodian’s internal records identify the investments owned by Colotrust. Colotrust funds carry a 
Standard & Poor’s AAA rating. There is no custodial interest rate or foreign currency risk exposure. 
The underlying investments held by Colotrust are valued at fair value.  
 
The District’s remaining investments at December 31, 2021 and 2020, were in money market funds, 
with a carrying value of $1,208,685 and $2,387,504, respectively. Of the amounts, $1,115,298 and 
$878,731 are restricted by the bond agreements for debt reserve at December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively.  
 
The District’s investments are recorded as cash equivalents. 
 
Fair value measurements – The District categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair 
value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on 
the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; and  
Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. The District’s money market funds are valued 
using quoted market prices (Level 1) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020. 
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 3. Patient Accounts Receivable: 

Patient accounts receivable are reduced by an allowance for uncollectible accounts. In evaluating 
the collectibility of patient accounts receivable, the District analyzes its past history and identifies 
trends for each of its major payor sources of revenue to estimate the appropriate allowance for 
uncollectible accounts and provision for bad debts. Management regularly reviews data about these 
major payor sources of revenue in evaluating the sufficiency of the allowance for uncollectible 
accounts. For receivables associated with services provided to patients who have third-party 
coverage, the District analyzes contractually due amounts and provides an allowance for 
uncollectible accounts and a provision for bad debts, if necessary (for example, for expected 
uncollectible deductibles and copayments on accounts for which the third-party payor has not yet 
paid, or for payors who are known to be having financial difficulties that make the realization of 
amounts due unlikely). For receivables associated with self-pay patients (which include both 
patients without insurance and patients with deductible and copayment balances due for which 
third-party coverage exists for part of the bill), the District records a significant provision for bad 
debts in the period of service on the basis of its past experience, which indicates that many patients 
are unable or unwilling to pay the portion of their bill for which they are financially responsible. 
The difference between the standard rates (or the discounted rates if negotiated) and the amounts 
actually collected after all reasonable collection efforts have been exhausted is charged off against 
the allowance for uncollectible accounts. 

The District’s allowance for uncollectible accounts for self-pay patients has increased significantly 
from the prior year due to an increase in self-pay accounts receivable balances. The District does 
not maintain a material allowance for uncollectible accounts from third-party payors, nor did it have 
significant writeoffs from third-party payors.  

Patient accounts receivable reported as current assets, consisted of these amounts: 

Receivable from patients and their insurance carriers $ 4,843,141 $ 3,519,195
Receivable from Medicare 1,657,373 1,197,613
Receivable from Medicaid 320,936 285,150

Total patient accounts receivable 6,821,450 5,001,958

Less allowance for uncollectible accounts 2,678,154 1,581,622

Patient accounts receivable, net $ 4,143,296 $ 3,420,336
      

2021 2020
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 4. Capital Assets: 

Capital asset additions, retirements, transfers, and balances were as follows: 

Capital assets not being depreciated
Land $ 101,000        $ -     $ -     $ -     $ 101,000
Construction in progress 1,487,415     1,251,397 -     (1,995,450) 743,362

Total capital assets not being
depreciated 1,588,415 1,251,397 -     (1,995,450) 844,362

Capital assets being depreciated
Buildings and improvements 27,375,253 7,368 -     1,708,990 29,091,611
Equipment 11,082,890 37,501 (81,700) 286,460 11,325,151

Total capital assets being
depreciated 38,458,143 44,869 (81,700) 1,995,450 40,416,762

Less accumulated depreciation for
Buildings and improvements (8,629,210) (1,209,347) -     -     (9,838,557)
Equipment (9,145,655) (592,964) 81,700 -     (9,656,919)

Total accumulated depreciation (17,774,865) (1,802,311) 81,700 -     (19,495,476)
Total capital assets being 

depreciated, net 20,683,278 (1,757,442) -     1,995,450 20,921,286

Capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation $ 22,271,693 $ (506,045) $ -     $ -     $ 21,765,648

  

Balance
December 31, December 31,

Balance

20212020 Additions Retirements Transfers

Construction in progress at December 31, 2021, consisted of costs for a new MRI machine and a 
backup oxygen system for the hospital. The MRI was completed in February 2022 cost with 
additional costs of approximately $144,000. The oxygen systems project is scheduled to be 
completed in December 2022 with no significant additional costs expected to be incurred. 
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 4. Capital Assets (continued): 

Capital assets not being depreciated
Land $ 101,000 $ -     $ -     $ -     $ 101,000
Construction in progress 73,031 1,414,384 -     -     1,487,415

Total capital assets not being
depreciated 174,031 1,414,384 -     -     1,588,415

Capital assets being depreciated
Buildings and improvements 27,057,488 317,765 -     -     27,375,253
Equipment 10,395,757 687,133 -     -     11,082,890

Total capital assets being
depreciated 37,453,245 1,004,898 -     -     38,458,143

Less accumulated depreciation for
Buildings and improvements (7,463,345) (1,165,865) -     -     (8,629,210)
Equipment (8,518,446) (627,209) -     -     (9,145,655)

Total accumulated depreciation (15,981,791) (1,793,074) -     -     (17,774,865)
Total capital assets being 

depreciated, net 21,471,454 (788,176) -     -     20,683,278

Capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation $ 21,645,485 $ 626,208 $ -     $ -     $ 22,271,693

   

Balance Balance
December 31, December 31,

20202019 Additions Retirements Transfers

 

 5. Employee Health Self-insurance: 

The District established a self-insurance fund for employee medical care that is administered 
through UMR, Incorporated. Specific and aggregate stop-loss coverage on the health plan is 
provided to limit the ultimate exposure of the District. 

The District has recorded the estimated liability for self-insurance claims in the statements of net 
position, in accrued compensation and related liabilities. The income and expenses related to 
administration of self-insurance and the estimated provision for claims liabilities are recorded in the 
statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position, in employee benefits expense. 

The District accrues an incurred but not yet reported liability for plan claims that have been 
incurred but have not yet been reported to the District. The District has also purchased a 
supplementary insurance policy to cover claims in excess of $50,000. 

Claim liability, beginning of year $ 229,398         $ 274,024         
Current year claims and changes in estimates 1,501,813      1,653,521      
Claim payments (1,457,163)     (1,698,147)     

Claim liability, end of year $ 274,048         $ 229,398         

2021 2020
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 6. Long-term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations: 

A schedule of changes in the District’s long-term debt and capital lease obligations is as follows: 

Long-term debt
Limited Tax General Obligation Bonds, Series 2006 and

Limited Tax General Obligation Bonds, Series 2007 $ 8,705,000 $ -     $ (8,705,000) $ -     $ -     
Improvement and Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2016 A

(Tax Exempt) and Refunding Revenue Bond 
Series 2016 B (Taxable) 9,920,000 -     (330,000) 9,590,000 340,000

Limited Tax General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2021 -     7,885,000 -     7,885,000 -     
2007 bond premium 219,096 -     (219,096) -     -     
2016 bond premium 129,144 -     (5,097) 124,047 -     
2021 bond premium -     790,266 (27,799) 762,467 -     

Total long-term debt 18,973,240 8,675,266 (9,286,992) 18,361,514 340,000

Capital lease obligations
Stryker equipment lease 81,005 -     (64,804) 16,201 16,201
Wells Fargo equipment lease 149,934 -     (105,104) 44,830 44,830

Total capital lease obligations 230,939 -     (169,908) 61,031 61,031

$ 19,204,179 $ 8,675,266 $ (9,456,900) $ 18,422,545 $ 401,031

Long-term debt
Limited Tax General Obligation Bonds, Series 2006 and

Limited Tax General Obligation Bonds, Series 2007 $ 9,025,000 $ -     $ (320,000) $ 8,705,000 $ 335,000
Improvement and Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2016 A

(Tax Exempt) and Refunding Revenue Bond 
Series 2016 B (Taxable) 10,240,000 -     (320,000) 9,920,000 330,000

2007 bond premium 232,442 -     (13,346) 219,096 -     
2016 bond premium 134,242 -     (5,098) 129,144 -     

Total long-term debt 19,631,684 -     (658,444) 18,973,240 665,000

Capital lease obligations
Stryker equipment lease 145,810 -     (64,805) 81,005 64,804
Dell server lease 57,645 -     (57,645) -     -     
Wells Fargo equipment lease 251,471 -     (101,537) 149,934 105,105
Synoptek telephone lease 2,393 -     (2,393) -     -     

Total capital lease obligations 457,319 -     (226,380) 230,939 169,909

$ 20,089,003 $ -     $ (884,824) $ 19,204,179 $ 834,909

Amounts
Due Within
One Year2019 Additions Reductions 2020

December 31,
Balance

December 31,
Balance

Additions Reductions2020
December 31,

Balance Amounts
Due Within
One Year

Balance
December 31,

2021
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 6. Long-term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations (continued): 

The terms of the District’s long-term debt follow: 

 Health Care Services Enterprise Improvement and Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2016A  
(Tax Exempt) and Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2016B (Taxable), in the original 
amounts of $9,590,000 and $1,545,000, respectively. The bonds are secured by the District’s 
net revenue. The bonds mature annually at amounts ranging from $340,000 to $680,000 with 
semiannual interest payments at rates ranging from 2.75 percent to 6.125 percent through 
June 1, 2046.  

 Limited Tax General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2021, in the original amount of 
$7,885,000, issued in May 2021 to refund the Limited Tax General Obligation Bonds, Series 
2006 and Series 2007. The bonds bear interest rates of 3 percent. The bonds mature annually 
beginning in 2023 at amounts ranging from $420,000 to $640,000, with semiannual interest 
payments through December 2037.  

Scheduled principal and interest repayments on long-term debt are as follows:  

Years Ending
December 31,

2022 $ 340,000         $ 720,631         $ 1,060,631
2023 645,000         712,863         1,357,863
2024 665,000         693,431         1,358,431
2025 685,000         672,825         1,357,825
2026 710,000         651,525         1,361,525

2027-2031 3,915,000      2,891,238      6,806,238
2032-2036 4,635,000      2,161,425      6,796,425
2037-2041 2,365,000      1,292,194      3,657,194
2042-2046 3,515,000      484,641         3,999,641

$ 17,475,000 $ 10,280,772 $ 27,755,772

Principal Interest Total
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 6. Long-term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations (continued): 

The terms of the District’s capital lease obligations follow: 

 Wells Fargo equipment lease, due in monthly installments of $9,402, including interest at 
3.37 percent, through May 2022; collateralized by equipment with a cost of $455,148 and 
accumulated depreciation of $313,100 and $248,649 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively. 

 Stryker equipment lease, due in monthly installments of $6,076, including interest at 2.32 
percent, through April 2022; collateralized by equipment with a cost of $290,974 and 
accumulated depreciation of $290,974 and $236,416 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively. 

Scheduled principal and interest payments on capital lease obligations are as follows: 

Years Ending
December 31,

2022 $ 61,031           $ 3,082             $ 64,113

$ 61,031 $ 3,082 $ 64,113

Principal Interest Total

 

 7. Paycheck Protection Program Note Payable: 

In April 2020, the District was granted a loan from First Southwest Bank in the aggregate amount 
of $3,740,044, pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program (PPP) under Division A, Title I of the 
CARES Act Provider Relief Fund, which was enacted March 27, 2020. 

The District received notice of forgiveness of the PPP loan in June 2021. The loan forgiveness has 
been recorded as a Gain on Forgiveness of Paycheck Protection Program loan in the statements of 
revenues, expenses, and changes in net position for the year ended December 31, 2021. 
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 8. Net Patient Service Revenue: 

The District recognizes patient service revenue associated with services provided to patients who 
have third-party payor coverage on the basis of contractual rates for the services rendered. For 
uninsured patients who do not qualify for charity care, the District recognizes revenue on the basis 
of its standard rates for services provided (or on the basis of discounted rates, if negotiated or 
provided by policy). On the basis of historical experience, a significant portion of the District’s 
uninsured patients will be unable or unwilling to pay for the services provided. Thus, the District 
records a significant provision for bad debts related to uninsured patients in the period the services 
are provided. The District’s provision for bad debts and write-offs has increased significantly from 
the prior year due to significant increases in patient services and revenues. The District has not 
changed its charity care or uninsured discount policies during fiscal years 2021 or 2020. Patient 
service revenue, net of contractual adjustments and discounts (but before the provision for bad 
debts), recognized in the period from these major payor sources, is as follows:  

Patient service revenue (net of contractual
adjustments and discounts):

Medicare $ 19,675,882    $ 14,194,536    
Medicaid 4,506,384      3,331,856      
Other third-party payors 8,186,091      11,676,098    
Patients 3,011,829      2,433,032      
Provider fee 3,187,647      2,520,101      

38,567,833    34,155,623    
Less:

Charity care 281,802         282,687         
Provision for bad debts 2,547,165      1,730,053      

Net patient service revenue $ 35,738,866    $ 32,142,883    

  

2021 2020

 
The District has agreements with third-party payors that provide for payments to the District at 
amounts different from its established rates. A summary of the payment arrangements with major 
third-party payors follows: 

 Medicare – The District has been designated a critical access hospital and the clinic a rural 
health clinic by Medicare. The District is paid on a cost reimbursement method for 
substantially all services provided to Medicare beneficiaries. The District is reimbursed for 
cost reimbursable items at a tentative rate with final settlement determined after the 
submission of annual cost reports by the District and audits thereof by the Medicare 
administrative contractor.  

 Medicaid – Inpatient acute care services rendered to Medicaid program beneficiaries are paid 
at prospectively determined rates per discharge. These rates vary according to a patient 
classification system that is based on clinical, diagnostic, and other factors. Medicaid 
outpatient services are paid based on prospectively determined rates. Rural health clinic 
encounters are reimbursed at a tentative rate with final settlement determined after submission 
of annual cost reports by the District and audits thereof by Medicaid. Physician services are 
reimbursed on a fee schedule.
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 8. Net Patient Service Revenue (continued): 

 The District also has entered into payment agreements with certain commercial insurance 
carriers, health maintenance organizations, and preferred provider organizations. The basis for 
payment to the District under these agreements includes prospectively determined rates per 
discharge, discounts from established charges, and prospectively determined daily rates. 

Laws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid programs are extremely complex and 
subject to interpretation. As a result, there is at least a reasonable possibility that recorded estimates 
will change by a material amount in the near term. Net patient service revenue increased by 
approximately $50,000 and $350,000 in the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively, due to differences between original estimates and final settlements. 

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the District received notice that its Medicaid rural 
health clinic rates were being updated to the higher of the prospectively determined rate or the cost 
per encounter as determined by the District’s annual Medicare cost reports. Rate reconciliations are 
being conducted by the Colorado Department of Health Care Policy and Financing. As a result, 
Medicaid claims from 2017 through 2019 are being reprocessed, resulting in a payback of 
approximately $946,000 that was accrued at December 31, 2021. Net patient service revenue 
increased by approximately $128,000 in the year ended December 31, 2021, due to differences in 
the original estimates and final settlements. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the 
District has estimated a receivable of approximately $236,000 and $204,000, respectively, for the 
rate reconciliation. 

Under the Colorado Health Care Affordability Act (Act), the District pays provider fees to the state 
of Colorado. The provider fees are based on inpatient days and outpatient charges. The District also 
receives various supplemental payments from the state of Colorado under this Act.  

The District provides charity care to patients who are financially unable to pay for the healthcare 
services they receive. The District’s policy is not to pursue collection of amounts determined to 
qualify as charity care. Accordingly, the District does not report these amounts in net operating 
revenues or in the allowance for uncollectible accounts. The District determines the costs associated 
with providing charity care by aggregating the applicable direct and indirect costs, including 
salaries and wages, benefits, supplies, and other operating expenses, based on data from its costing 
system. The costs of caring for charity care patients for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 
2020, were approximately $154,000 and $163,000, respectively. The District did not receive any 
gifts or grants to subsidize charity services during 2021 and 2020. 

 
 9. CARES Act Provider Relief Fund: 

As of December 31, 2021, the District received $6,128,960 of funding from the CARES Act. These 
funds are required to be used to reimburse the District for healthcare-related expenses or lost 
revenues that are attributable to coronavirus. The District recorded these funds as unearned grant 
revenue until eligible expenses or lost revenues are recognized. During the years ended  
December 31, 2021 and 2020, the District recognized $4,225,159 and $1,234,026 of grant revenue 
from these funds, respectively. The District had $669,775 remaining as of December 31, 2021, to 
use for healthcare-related expenses or lost revenues that are attributable to coronavirus in the next 
fiscal year.
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 10. Property Taxes: 

The Archuleta, Hinsdale, and Mineral County Treasurers act as agents to assess and collect 
property taxes levied in the county for all taxing authorities. Property taxes are levied and assessed 
in December on property values assessed as of January 1 of the prior year.  

Taxes are due in two equal amounts by February 28 and June 15, or all may be paid by April 30. 
The assessed property is subject to lien on the levy date. Taxes estimated to be collectible are 
recorded as revenue in the year of the levy by the District. No allowance for uncollectible taxes 
receivable is considered necessary at the statement of net position dates. A deferred inflow of 
resources and a receivable were recorded at December 31, 2021 and 2020, for taxes levied for 2022 
and 2021, respectively. 

For 2021, the District’s regular tax levy was $3.884 per $1,000 on a total combined assessed 
valuation of $368,271,969, for a total regular combined levy of $1,434,016. For 2020, the District’s 
regular tax levy was $3.884 per $1,000 on a total assessed valuation of $328,483,239, for a total 
regular levy of $1,277,441.  

 
 11. Defined Contribution Plans: 

The District provides retirement benefits for all its employees through a defined contribution plan 
administered by the Colorado County Officials and Employees Retirement Association (CCOERA) 
(the Plan). In a defined contribution plan, benefits depend solely on amounts contributed to the plan 
plus investment earnings. Under the defined contribution retirement plan, the District is required to 
contribute 6 percent of employee compensation to the Plan.  

Employees are required to participate in the Plan upon the first day of the payroll period after the 
employee’s date of hire. The Plan provides retirement benefits based upon the employee’s vested 
account. A participant becomes 100 percent vested upon completion of five years of covered 
service. Contributions by employees are immediately vested. Amounts forfeited by employees who 
leave employment before they become fully vested are applied to reduce future employer 
contributions. Under the Plan, employees direct the investment of both the employee and employer 
contributions among several investment options available through an outside plan administrator. 
Employer contributions to the Plan totaled approximately $1,238,000 and $1,186,000 for the years 
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Employee contributions to the Plan totaled 
approximately $1,238,000 and $1,186,000 for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively.  

District employees may defer a portion of their compensation under a District sponsored Deferred 
Compensation Plan created in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 457. Under this 
plan, participants are not taxed on the deferred portion of their compensation until it is distributed to 
them; distributions may be made only at termination, retirement, or death. The laws governing 
deferred compensation plan assets require plan assets to be held by a trust for the exclusive benefit 
of plan participants and their beneficiaries. Since the assets held under these plans are not the 
District’s property and are not subject to District control, they have been excluded from these 
financial statements. 

The District made all required funding payments during the year. 
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 12. Risk Management and Contingencies: 

Risk management – The District is exposed to various risks of loss from torts; theft of, damage to, 
and destruction of assets; business interruption; errors and omissions; employee injuries and 
illnesses; natural disasters; and employee health, dental, and accident benefits. Commercial 
insurance coverage is purchased for claims arising from such matters. Settled claims have not 
exceeded this commercial coverage in any of the three preceding years. 

Medical malpractice claims – The District has professional liability insurance with COPIC 
Insurance Company (COPIC). The policy provides protection on a “claims-made” basis whereby 
only malpractice claims reported to the insurance carrier in the current year are covered by the 
current policies, as well as past incidents that are reported during the current term. The malpractice 
insurance provides $1,000,000 per claim of primary coverage with an annual aggregate limit of 
$3,000,000. The policy has a deductible of $50,000 per claim.  

No liability has been accrued for future coverage of acts, if any, occurring in this or prior years. 
Also, it is possible that claims may exceed coverage available in any given year. 

Industry regulations – The healthcare industry is subject to numerous laws and regulations of 
federal, state, and local governments. Recently, government activity has increased with respect to 
investigations and allegations concerning possible violations of various statutes and regulations by 
healthcare providers. Compliance with such laws and regulations can be subject to future 
government review and interpretation as well as regulatory actions unknown or unasserted at this 
time. Management believes the District is in compliance with fraud and abuse as well as other 
applicable government laws and regulations. If the District is found in violation of these laws, the 
District could be subject to substantial monetary fines, civil and criminal penalties, and exclusion 
from participation in the Medicare and Medicaid programs. 

Taxpayer’s Bill of Rights – Colorado voters passed an amendment to the state constitution,  
Article X, Section 20, known as the Taxpayer’s Bill of Rights. This amendment has several 
limitations including revenue raising, spending abilities, and other specific requirements of state 
and local governments. The amendment is complex and subject to judicial interpretation. The 
District believes it is in compliance with the requirements of this amendment. However, the District 
has made certain interpretations of the amendment’s language in order to determine its compliance.  
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 13. Concentration Risks:  

Patient accounts receivable – The District grants credit without collateral to its patients, most of 
whom are local residents and are insured under third-party payor agreements. The mix of 
receivables from patients and third-party payors was as follows:  

Medicare 32      % 29      %
Medicaid 12      12      
Other third-party payors 27      36      
Patients 29      23      

100    % 100    %

2021 2020

 
Physicians – The District is dependent on local physicians and mid-level providers practicing in its 
service area to provide admissions and utilize hospital services on an outpatient basis. A decrease in 
the number of physicians providing these services or changes in their utilization patterns may have 
an adverse effect on District operations.  
 

 14. Budget and Actual Revenues and Expenses: 

The District overspent its approved budget by $1,139,856 in 2021. 
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Operating revenues
Net patient service revenue and 340B contract pharmacy $ 31,726,703    $ 33,971,485     $ 2,244,782             
Provider fees 2,160,116      3,187,647       1,027,531             
Grants 346,440         266,109          (80,331)                
Other 2,186,419      208,716          (1,977,703)           

Total operating revenues 36,419,678    37,633,957     1,214,279             

Operating expenses
Salaries and wages 19,946,262 20,776,614 (830,352)              
Employee benefits 3,503,087 3,278,759 224,328                
Professional fees and other purchased services 2,272,270 2,440,059 (167,789)              
Supplies 6,212,931 6,054,530 158,401                
Utilities 439,776 430,349 9,427                    
Depreciation and amortization 1,948,200 1,802,311 145,889                
Leases and rentals 172,923 451,270 (278,347)              
Repairs and maintenance 590,918 539,480 51,438                  
Insurance 311,650 339,605 (27,955)                
Provider fees and other 1,688,353 2,113,249 (424,896)              

Total operating expenses 37,086,370    38,226,226     (1,139,856)           

Operating loss (666,692)        (592,269)         74,423                  

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Property taxes 1,200,000 1,434,731 234,731                
Interest expense (1,012,430) (976,848) 35,582                  
CARES Act Provider Relief Fund 500,000 4,225,159 3,725,159             
Interest income -     31,470 31,470                  

Total nonoperating revenues, net 687,570         4,714,512       4,026,942             

Excess of revenues over expenses before gain on forgiveness of Paycheck 
Protection Program loan and capital grants and contributions 20,878           4,122,243       4,101,365             

Gain on forgiveness of Paycheck Protection Program loan -     3,740,044 3,740,044             
Capital grants and contributions 200,000 895,277 695,277                

Change in net position $ 220,878         $ 8,757,564       $ 8,536,686             
 

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
and Final

Budget Actual

Original 

See accompanying independent auditors’ report.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL  
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER  

MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

Board of Directors 
Upper San Juan Health Service District 
 doing business as Pagosa Springs Medical Center 
Pagosa Springs, Colorado 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of Upper San Juan Health 
Service District doing business as Pagosa Springs Medical Center (the District) which comprise the 
statement of net position as of December 31, 2021, and the related statements of revenues, expenses and 
changes in net position and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated June 20, 2022. 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses 
may exist that have not been identified. 
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
and contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on 
the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 
objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests 
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards.  

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal control and compliance. 
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Dingus, Zarecor & Associates PLLC 
Spokane Valley, Washington  
June 20, 2022 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR 
 THE MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL 

 OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

Board of Directors 
Upper San Juan Health Service District 
 doing business as Pagosa Springs Medical Center 
Pagosa Springs, Colorado 

Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program 

Opinion on the Major Federal Program 

We have audited Upper San Juan Health Service District doing business as Pagosa Springs Medical 
Center’s (the District) compliance with the types of compliance requirements identified as subject to audit 
in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on the District’s major 
federal program for the year ended December 31, 2021. The District’s major federal program is identified 
in the summary of auditors’ results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned 
costs. 

In our opinion, the District complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred 
to above that could have a direct and material effect on its major federal program for the year ended 
December 31, 2021. 

Basis for Opinion on the Major Federal Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing 
Standards); and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform 
Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in 
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. 

We are required to be independent of the District and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for the major 
federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the District’s compliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above. 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of 
laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the 
District’s federal programs.
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on the District’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 
but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material 
noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is 
higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements 
referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about 
the District’s compliance with the requirements of the major federal program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform 
Guidance, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding the District’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to 
above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

 Obtain an understanding of the District’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on 
internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control over compliance. 
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 
control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in 
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material 
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 
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Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, 
as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance may exist that were not identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the 
Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.  

Dingus, Zarecor & Associates PLLC 
Spokane Valley, Washington  
June 20, 2022 
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Section I – Summary of Auditors’ Results  

Financial Statements:

Type of auditors’ report issued: Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:
• Material weakness(es) identified? yes X no
• Significant deficiency(ies) identified? yes X none reported

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? yes X no

Federal Awards:

Internal control over major federal programs:
• Material weakness(es) identified? yes X no
• Significant deficiency(ies) identified? yes X none reported

Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance for major federal programs: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported
in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)? yes X no

 
Identification of Major Federal Program:

Federal Assistance Listing Number Name of Federal Program or Cluster

Provider Relief Fund and American 
Rescue Plan (ARP) Rural Distribution

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B programs: $750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? yes X no

93.498
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Section II ‒ Financial Statement Findings 

No matters were reported for 2021. Therefore, no corrective action plan is necessary, nor has one been 
prepared. 

 
Section III ‒ Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 

No matters were reported for 2021. Therefore, no corrective action plan is necessary, nor has one been 
prepared. 
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Federal 
Assistance 

Listing 
Number

Pass-through 
Entity 

Identifying 
Number

Additional 
Award 

Identification

Total
Federal 

Expenditures

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Direct Programs:
Provider Relief Fund and American Rescue Plan (ARP) Rural Distribution 93.498 COVID-19 $ 5,068,354
COVID-19 Claims Reimbursement for the Uninsured Program 

and the COVID-19 Coverage Assistance Fund 93.461 COVID-19 202,337
COVID-19 Testing and Mitigation for Rural Health Clinics 93.697 COVID-19 100,000

Total U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Direct Programs 5,370,691

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Pass-through Programs from:
Colorado Rural Health Center

Rural Health Research Centers 93.155 Not provided COVID-19 124,220
Small Rural Hospital Improvement Grant Program 93.301 Not provided COVID-19 2,188

Total U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Pass-through Programs 126,408

Total U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 5,497,099

Total U.S. Department of the Treasury Pass-through Programs from:
Colorado Department of Local Affairs

Coronavirus Relief Fund 21.019 SD-301, RF-050, 
CVRF-RF-124, 
CVRF-RF-175

COVID-19 555,027

Total expenditures of federal awards $ 6,052,126

Federal Grantor/Pass-through Grantor/Program or Cluster Title

 
See accompanying independent auditors’ report and notes to the schedule of expenditures of federal awards.  
 
Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards: 
 
1. Basis of Presentation: 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the federal 
award activity of Upper San Juan Health Service District doing business as Pagosa Springs Medical 
Center (the District), under programs of the federal government for the year ended December 31, 
2021. Amounts reported on the Schedule for Federal Assistance Listing number 93.498 – Provider 
Relief Fund and American Rescue Plan (ARP) Rural Distribution are based upon the June 30, 2021, 
Provider Relief Fund report. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the 
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). 
Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the District, it is not 
intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net position, or cash flows of the 
District. 

 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: 

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such 
expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, 
wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. The 
District has elected to use the 10 percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under the Uniform 
Guidance.  
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The audit for the year ended December 31, 2020, reported no audit findings, nor were there any unresolved 
findings from periods ended December 31, 2019, or prior. Therefore, there are no matters to report in this 
section for the year ended December 31, 2021. 
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Total Margin 

Change in Net Position 
Total Revenues 
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This ratio reflects profits from both operations 
and nonoperations. Higher is better. 
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Operating Margin 

Operating Income (Loss) 
Total Operating Revenues 
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This ratio reflects profits from operations only. 
Higher is better. 
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Days Cash on Hand – All Sources 
Cash + Short-term Investments + Unrestricted Long-term Investments 

(Total Expenses - Depreciation) / 365 
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D
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s

Days Cash on Hand – All Sources measures the number of days of average 
cash expenses that the District maintains in cash and marketable securities. 
It is a measure of total liquidity, both short-term and long-term. High values 
for Days Cash on Hand – All Sources usually imply a greater ability to meet 
both short-term obligations and long-term capital replacement needs. 
Higher is better.  
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Upper San Juan Health Service District 
doing business as 

Pagosa Springs Medical Center 

 

Days Cash on Hand – All Sources (Less: MCR Accelerated Payments and Unearned PRF) 
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Days Cash on Hand – All Sources (Less: MCR Accelerated Payments and 
Unearned PRF) measures the number of days of average cash expenses that 
the District maintains in cash and marketable securities. It is a measure of 
total liquidity, both short-term and long-term. High values for Days Cash on 
Hand – All Sources (Less MCR Accelerated Payments and Unearned PRF) 
usually imply a greater ability to meet both short-term obligations and long-
term capital replacement needs. Higher is better.  
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Upper San Juan Health Service District 
doing business as 

Pagosa Springs Medical Center 

 

Current Ratio 
Total Current Assets   
Current Liabilities 

 

3.4 

2.0 

2.4 2.4 2.4 

2.0 

1.7 

2.0 

 -

 1.0

 2.0

 3.0

 4.0

 5.0

2021 2020 2019 All
Colorado
Hospitals

2020

CAH Far
West

Hospitals
2020

All
Hospitals:
Bed Size

< 50
2020

All Rural
Hospitals

<$90 Million
in Revenue

2020

All Hospitals
<$80 Million
in Revenue

2020

R
at

io

The Current Ratio is perhaps the most widely used measure of liquidity. High 
values can sometimes be misleading if the current assets are not liquid, such 
as inventory or noncollectible accounts receivable. Higher is better.  
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Upper San Juan Health Service District 
doing business as 

Pagosa Springs Medical Center 

 

Equipment Additions to Depreciation Expense 
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Equipment Additions to Depreciation Expense is the current year capital 
acquisitions as a percentage of current year depreciation expense. Values of 100 
percent or more are an indicator that capital assets are being updated and replaced.  
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Upper San Juan Health Service District 
doing business as 

Pagosa Springs Medical Center 

 

Long-term Debt to Net Position 
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Long-term Debt to Net Position is the proportion of long-
term debt divided by long-term debt plus net position. 
Higher values for this ratio imply a greater reliance on debt 
financing and may imply a reduced ability to carry 
additional debt. Lower is better. 
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Upper San Juan Health Service District 
doing business as 

Pagosa Springs Medical Center 

 

Days in Net Patient Accounts Receivable 
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Days in Net Patient Accounts Receivable is the average time that receivables are 
outstanding, or the average collection period. Higher collection periods lead to 
greater short-term financing requirements and will often force hospitals to 
reduce short-term cash or increase short-term debt. Lower is better. 
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Upper San Juan Health Service District 
doing business as 

Pagosa Springs Medical Center 

 

Gross Days in Accounts Receivable 
Gross Patient Revenues 

Average Daily Hospital Revenue (Revenue/365) 
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Gross Days in Accounts Receivable is the average time that receivables are 
outstanding, or the average collection period. Higher collection periods lead to 
greater short-term financing requirements and will often force hospitals to reduce 
short-term cash or increase short-term debt. Lower is better. 
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Upper San Juan Health Service District 
doing business as 

Pagosa Springs Medical Center 

 

Contractual Adjustment Percentage 
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Contractual Adjustment Percentage is the percentage of gross patient revenue 
that is discounted to third-party payors. Increasing values for this indicator 
puts tremendous pressure on hospital prices in those limited areas in which 
fuller recovery of rates is possible.  

PRESENTATIONS 3.a.



Upper San Juan Health Service District 
doing business as 

Pagosa Springs Medical Center 

 

Bad Debt Percentage  
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Bad Debt Percentage is the percentage of patient revenue that has been earned 
but is determined to be uncollectible. Control over uncollectible accounts is an 
important indicator of the quality of a hospital’s receivables and the strength of 
their collection process. Lower is better. 
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Upper San Juan Health Service District 
doing business as 

Pagosa Springs Medical Center 
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Bad Debt Percentage is the percentage of patient 
revenue that has been earned but is determined to be 
uncollectible. Control over uncollectible accounts is an 
important indicator of the quality of a hospital’s 
receivables and the strength of their collection process. 
Lower is better. 

Charity Care Percentage is the percentage of patient 
revenue that has been earned but not billed or 
collected as part of the hospital’s charity care 
program. This is an indicator of the benefit the 
hospital provides to in-need members of the 
community from a service perspective. 
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Upper San Juan Health Service District 
doing business as 

Pagosa Springs Medical Center 

 

Full-time Equivalent Employees (FTE) 
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Full-time Equivalent Employees (FTE) presents the trend in the largest 
single expense of the hospital. FTE is a measure of workload and is 
calculated by dividing total hours by 2,080 hours (40 hours per week for 
52 weeks a year). One FTE is the equivalent of one full-time worker. 
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Upper San Juan Health Service District 
doing business as 

Pagosa Springs Medical Center 

 

Salaries and Benefits per FTE 
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Salaries and Benefits per FTE provides a simple measure 
of the relative cost of the largest resource item used in 
the hospital industry. Control over wages and benefits is 
important to hospital financial viability. 
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Upper San Juan Health Service District 
doing business as 

Pagosa Springs Medical Center 

 

Net Patient Service Revenue per FTE 
Net Patient Service Revenue 

FTE 
 

 

$148,636 

$127,684 $131,713 

$120,994 
$115,133 

 $-

 $40,000

 $80,000

 $120,000

 $160,000

 $200,000

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Net Patient Service Revenue per FTE is net patient service revenue 
divided by the number of FTEs. This indicator is used as a broad 
measure of productivity. 

PRESENTATIONS 3.a.



 

 

Board of Directors 
Upper San Juan Health Service District 
    doing business as Pagosa Springs Medical Center 
Pagosa Springs, Colorado  

We have audited the financial statements of Upper San Juan Health Service District doing business as 
Pagosa Springs Medical Center (the District) for the year ended December 31, 2021. Professional 
standards require that we provide you with information about our responsibilities under generally 
accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards and the Uniform Guidance, as well as 
certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. We have communicated such 
information in our letters to you dated November 23, 2021 and March 30, 2022. Professional standards 
also require that we communicate to you the following information related to our audit. 

Significant Audit Matters 

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practice  

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by the District are described in Note 1 to the financial statements. No new 
accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed during 2021. 
We noted no transactions entered into by the District during the year for which there is a lack of 
authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial 
statements in the proper period. 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about 
future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the 
financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ 
significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the District’s financial 
statements were:  

 Management’s estimate of the allowance for uncollectible accounts and contractual 
adjustments is based on historical collection rates and an analysis of the collectibility of 
existing accounts receivable.  

 Management’s estimate for third-party settlements is based on interim payments, District 
expenses, and patient statistical data. 

 Management’s estimate of the liability for employee health insurance claims incurred but 
not reported is based on historical data regarding the average cost and timing of employee 
health insurance claims. 

 Management’s estimate of CARES Act Provider Relief recognized is based on qualifying 
expenses based on current guidance. 

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these estimates in determining that 
they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 
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Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our 
audit.  

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the 
audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 
management. Management has corrected all such misstatements. In addition, none of the misstatements 
detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by management were material, either individually or 
in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

Management has determined that the exclusion of the Dr. Mary Fisher Medical Foundation doing 
business as Pagosa Springs Medical Center Foundation from the financial statements is immaterial to the 
financial statements taken as a whole. Dr. Mary Fisher Medical Foundation doing business as Pagosa 
Springs Medical Center Foundation’s total assets at December 31, 2021, were approximately $1,223,000. 

Disagreements with Management  

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial 
statements or the auditors’ report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the 
course of our audit. 

Management Representations  

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated June 20, 2021. 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants  

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves 
application of an accounting principle to the District’s financial statements or a determination of the type 
of auditors’ opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the 
consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our 
knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 

Other Audit Findings or Issues  

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the District’s auditors. However, these 
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 
condition to our retention. 

We identified the following significant risks of material misstatement as part of our audit planning: 

 Management override of controls. 
 The patient accounts receivable allowance for contractual adjustments and doubtful accounts 

(allowance) contains a risk of improper revenue recognition. 
 Estimated third-party payor settlements contain a risk of improper revenue recognition. 
 The Provider Relief Fund revenue could be overstated or understated. 
 There is a risk that the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (SEFA) could be missing 

federal expenditures. 

 

PRESENTATIONS 3.a.



Board of Directors 
Upper San Juan Health Service District 
    doing business as Pagosa Springs Medical Center 
Page 3 

 

Other Matters 

We applied certain limited procedures to the management’s discussion and analysis, which is required 
supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the basic financial statements. Our procedures 
consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing 
the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did 
not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI. 

We were engaged to report on the schedule of budget and actual revenues and expenses, which 
accompanies the financial statements but is not required supplementary information. The accompanying 
schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by 
the Uniform Guidance and is not a required part of the financial statements. With respect to this 
supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, 
and methods of preparing the information to determine that the information complies with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed 
from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the 
financial statements. We compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying 
accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves. 

Restriction on Use 

This information is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors and management 
of the District and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified 
parties. 

Dingus, Zarecor & Associates PLLC 
Spokane Valley, Washington  
June 20, 2022  

PRESENTATIONS 3.a.





Board of Directors 
Upper San Juan Health Service District 
    doing business as Pagosa Springs Medical Center 
Pagosa Springs, Colorado  

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of Upper San Juan Health Service 
District doing business as Pagosa Springs Medical Center (the District) for the year ended December 31, 
2021, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we 
considered the District’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on 
the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
District’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s 
internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph and was 
not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses. Given these 
limitations during our audit, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be 
material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

In addition, during our audit, we became aware of several matters that are opportunities for strengthening 
internal controls and operating efficiency. This letter does not affect our report dated June 20, 2022, on 
the financial statements of the District. We will review the status of the comments during our next audit 
engagement. Our comments are summarized as follows:  

Allowance for doubtful accounts – During our audit, we noted a new general ledger account was created 
to separately track patient accounts receivable sent to collections. This account was not included in the 
year end calculation to estimate the allowance for uncollectible accounts, resulting in a material audit 
adjustment being posted to properly value the receivables at the amount estimated to be collectible as of 
December 31, 2021. We recommend all significant receivable balances be reviewed for collectibility, at 
least annually. 

Policies and procedures over federal awards – Acceptance of federal grant funding requires the 
establishment of written policies and procedures over federal awards. These policies and procedures 
should include how federal award compliance requirements are monitored and how compliance with such 
requirements, is ensured. We recommend the District document its policies and procedures over federal 
awards to help ensure compliance with federal awards. 

We will review the status of this comment during our next audit engagement. This letter does not affect 
our report dated June 20, 2022, on the financial statements of the District.
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Closing 

We wish to thank the Chief Financial Officer, Controller and the accounting department for their support 
and assistance during our audit. 

This communication is intended solely for the use of the Board of Directors and management of the 
District, and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

Dingus, Zarecor & Associates PLLC 
Spokane Valley, Washington 
June 20, 2022  
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Finance Committee & CFO Report for the 

USJHSD Board Meeting on June 28, 2022 

The Board’s Finance Committee met on June 27, 2022.  The report below provides an overview of 

the financials and addresses any questions made by members of the Finance Committee.   

1) May Financials:

a) Bottom line and Income Statement:

i) Historically PSMC operates in the negative until summer.

ii) On the Income Statement:

(1) Gross Revenue:  Gross patient revenues are 5% higher than budget.

(2) Deductions to Gross Revenues for Payer Contractuals, Charity and Bad Debt:

Each month PSMC has deductions to its revenue for bad debt, charity care as well

as deductions made by third-party payers (Medicare and commercial insurers) that

are referred to as payer contractuals.  Year to date, these deductions to revenue are

slightly less than budget.

(3) Non-Cash Expenses:  PSMC had two unplanned noncash expenses in May:

(a) Noncash expense of $591,680 for sick and public health emergency leave for

employees.  As relayed at the April Board meeting, Colorado law has required

sick and public health emergency leave since 2021.  An employer’s existing

paid time off plan can satisfy the sick leave, but it turns out there are many

management limitations to this (limits on discipline, required notice and

certain aspects cannot be accrued but must be immediately available).  PSMC

adjusted its existing PTO plan to include sick and public health emergency

leave that meet the management limitations.  This leave is a noncash expense

of $255,680 to 2022 and $336,000 to 2021.

(b) Noncash expense of $403,678 to accrue PTO of employees with an

employment contract.  As discussed with the Board in February, PSMC has

historically contractually required employees with an employment contract to

forfeit PTO when they leave employment; however, as a result of a change in

2021 case law, such contract provisions are no longer enforceable.  The PTO

for employees with an employment contract is the same, but it is no longer a

contingent expenditure and was added as a liability on the balance sheet.

(4) Contract labor expenses for traveler staffing (nursing and lab) continues to greatly

exceed budget – in May this expense was $470,321 greater than budget.

(5) Net Revenues:  Due to expenses (described above), PSMC fell short of budget by

$449,450. 

iii) Days of accounts receivable continued at A/R 52.3 days.

b) Balance Sheet:

i) As of May 31, 2022, PSMC has 133.44 days of cash on hand.

ii) On the Balance Sheet, PSMC has additional cash on hand that appears as both an asset

and a liability as follows:

(1) $669,775 (additional 6.05 days of cash) of CARES Funding (appears in the Assets

column as “Relief Fund Restricted” and in the Liabilities column as “Relief Fund

Liability”).

(2) $1,384,122 (additional 12.5 days of cash) of Medicare Accelerated Payment – in

2020, Medicare made an advance which PSMC applies against sums due to PSMC

for Medicare services.  Staff reported that these funds are being applied at a faster

rate so we will see these funds depleted at a faster rate than the past.  Any sums
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not applied through September 2022 are returned to Medicare.   

 

2) Audit.  The auditor presented, via Zoom, the audit to the Finance Committee. As set forth in 

the letters from the auditor to the Board of Directors, the auditor concluded that the financial 

statements “present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the District as of 

December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the changes in its financial position and its cash flows for 

the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 

States of America.”  With respect to federal Payroll Protection funds and stimulus funds, the 

auditor noted: (a) the District expended funds to maintain staffing in 2020 but the PPP 

forgiveness for those expenses were recognized in 2021; and (b) the District recognized 

stimulus funds for expenditures of the District to respond to the pandemic. 

 

3) Pruitt Building.  The Finance Committee discussed PSMC’s financial condition as it relates 

to the possible Pruitt Building acquisition and will report the same to the Board of Directors in 

executive session. 

 

4) Finance Committee Recommendations: The Finance Committee recommends acceptance of 

the May 2022 financial reports as presented. 
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June 27, 2022 

Jason Simmons 
Hilltop Securities 
Jason.simmons@hilltopsecurities.com 

Ann Bruzzese 
PSMC 
ann.bruzzese@psmedicalcenter.org 

Chelle Keplinger 
PSMC 
Chelle.keplinger@psmedicalcenter.org 

RE: Private Placement for $2,315,000 Upper San Juan Health Service District, Lease Purchase Financing 
or Certificate of Participation, Series 2022 

JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA (“Bank”) is pleased to submit this proposal for tax-exempt financing to Upper San 
Juan Health Service District (the “District”), dba Pagosa Springs Medical Center.  This proposal is presented in 
the form of a binding “Term Sheet,” subject to negotiation and acceptance of all terms, conditions and 
documentation for the transaction.  The Term Sheet signifies a commitment by Bank to extend credit or purchase 
the Certificate.   

FORM OF CERTIFICATE: Bank will require a single term certificate with annual principal 
payments equivalent to the preliminary maturity schedule, and 
without DTC registration.  Bank will not require either a rating 
for the Certificate or the purchase of credit enhancement for 
repayment. 

USE OF PROCEEDS: The District seeks to purchase 2.3 acres of land together with 
an 8,605 square foot commercial building known as the “Pruitt 
Property”. The Pruitt Property is a corner lot located at the 
intersection of Highway 160 and South Pagosa Blvd. The 
Pruitt Property is bordered by  District property with access via 
an easement through the entrance to Pagosa Springs Medical 
Center. The Pruitt Property served as one of the first medical 
office buildings in Pagosa Springs until Dr. Jim Pruitt, one of 
the first physicians to practice in Archuleta County, closed his 
practice in 2013. From 2014-2017, the District leased the Pruitt 
Property for administrative staff. The Pruitt Property is 
strategically located to serve the expanding space needs of the 
District.  

2022 LEASED PROPERTY The 2022 Leased Property will consist of the Pruitt Property 
being purchased with proceeds from the 2022 Financing.  

ELIGIBILITY: The Certificate will be designated as “bank qualified” tax-
exempt obligations under the Code Section 265(b)(3). 
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PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: Not exceeding $2,315,000  
 
FINANCING TERM: Final maturity of December 1, 2037 
  
REPAYMENT TERMS: Fifteen (15) consecutive and unequal annual payments of 

principal on December 1, commencing December 1, 2023; and 
according to the preliminary amortization schedule included in 
the request for financing proposal; semi-annual payments of 
accrued interest on each June 1 and December 1, commencing 
December 1, 2022.  

 
INTEREST RATE: The Certificate would accrue interest at a fixed rate per annum 

as set forth below based upon the option selected by the 
District, the rates provided below are based upon market 
conditions as of June 27, 2022.  The actual rate of interest 
borne by the Bonds will be set by mutual agreement between 
Bank and the Issuer upon receipt of signed acceptance, which 
must occur within 45 days of closing. 

 
 The interest rate will be fixed as described above, however, 

prior to acceptance, the interest rate may increase if the Bank’s 
cost of funds increases.  Bank’s cost of funds may increase due 
to a number of factors including, but not limited to, changes in 
market conditions.  Interest will be calculated on a 30/360 
basis. 

 
OPTION A:   Non-Callable BQ Tax-Exempt Fixed Rate of 
3.13% 
 
OPTION B:  Callable BQ Tax-Exempt Fixed Rate of 
3.54%.  Optional redemption permitted subsequent to 
December 1, 2024, at par plus accrued interest and without 
penalty. 
 
OPTION C:  Callable BQ Tax-Exempt Fixed Rate of 
3.38%.  Optional redemption permitted subsequent to 
December 1, 2027, at par plus accrued interest and without 
penalty. 
 
OPTION D:  Callable BQ Tax-Exempt Fixed Rate of 
3.21%.  Optional redemption permitted subsequent to 
December 1, 2032, at par plus accrued interest and without 
penalty. 

  
SECURITY: The land and building constituting the 2022 Leased Property 

will be purchased by the District and then be leased by the 
District to the Lender or a Trustee in a Site Lease of 
approximately 25 years. The District will lease the Leased 
Property back from the Trustee or Lender under the terms of 
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a Lease Agreement for a period of approximately 15 years. 
Subject to annual appropriation, the District will make annual 
Base Rental payments to the Lender under the terms of the 
Lease. The Site Lease will terminate upon the earlier of the 
full payment of the Lease, or upon its expiration. Annually 
appropriated lease payments may be paid from any available 
revenues of the District, including all legally available 
revenues generated by the District.  No provision of the 
Resolution, the Lease or the Site and Improvement Lease 
shall be construed as constituting or giving rise to a general 
obligation or other indebtedness or multiple fiscal year 
financial obligation of the District within the meaning of any 
constitutional or statutory debt limitation nor a mandatory 
charge or requirement against the District in any ensuing 
fiscal year beyond the current fiscal year.  

 
COVENANTS: A debt service reserve fund will not be required. The Loan and 

Lease Agreement will contain such covenants and 
representations as are customary in an annual appropriation 
Lease purchase financing. 

 
LEGAL OPINION: Bank will require District’s bond counsel to deliver a legal 

opinion as to (i) validity and enforceability of the Certificate 
and the Lease Agreement under state statutes, and (ii) 
exemption of interest on the Certificate from Federal income 
tax and State of Colorado income taxes. Bond counsel 
approving opinion must be addressed to Bank or permit 
reliance by Bank. 

 
FINANCIAL REPORTING: The District will be required to provide Bank with audited 

annual financial statements, prepared by an independent 
Certified Public Accountant, within 270 days of the close of its 
fiscal year.  Additionally, the District will provide Bank with a 
copy of its annual budget, as adopted or amended, within 30 
days of adoption or amendment.  Other reporting, such as Bank 
may require from time to time, could include copies of any 
long-term capital improvement plans. 

 
DOCUMENTATION: Documentation shall be prepared by District’s Bond Counsel, 

which firm represents the District at District’s expense.  This 
Term Sheet is subject to approval of the documentation by the 
Bank and its independent Bank counsel, in the Bank’s 
reasonable discretion, including but not limited to a Resolution 
of the Board of Directors of the District, a Certificate, an 
Indenture, a Site Lease Agreement and a Lease Purchase 
Agreement and other instruments, documents and certificates 
that are usual and customary for a Direct Purchase of a Lease 
Purchase Financing Agreement. The Bank shall receive a 
Leasehold Insurance Policy or appropriate endorsements for 
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the Leased Property. 
 
BANK COUNSEL FEES: Independent Bank counsel fees and costs not expected to 

exceed $10,000 to be paid by the District as a cost of issuance. 
Bank intends to retain Sally Tasker with Butler Snow, LLP 

 
EXPIRATION: This Term Sheet must be accepted on June 28th, 2022 by 8pm 

MST with closing and funding to occur on or before August 1, 
2022.  If acceptance or funding has not occurred by the 
respective dates, the Bank may, at its option and in its sole 
discretion, terminate the Term Sheet and/or the Interest Rate 
may be adjusted.  

 
MUNICIPAL ADVISOR DISCLAIMER:  The District acknowledges and agrees that (i) the transaction 

contemplated herein is an arm’s length commercial transaction 
between the District and the Bank and its affiliates, (ii) in 
connection with such transaction, the Bank and its affiliates are 
acting solely as a principal and not as an advisor including, 
without limitation, a “Municipal Advisor” as such term is 
defined in Section 15B of the Securities and Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended, and the related final rules (the “Municipal 
Advisor Rules”), agent or a fiduciary of the District, (iii) the 
Bank and its affiliates are relying on the Bank exemption in the 
Municipal Advisor Rules, (iv) the Bank and its affiliates have 
not provided any advice or assumed any advisory or fiduciary 
responsibility in favor of the District with respect to the 
transaction contemplated hereby and the discussions, 
undertakings and procedures leading thereto (whether or not 
the Bank, or any affiliate of the Bank, has provided other 
services or advised, or is currently providing other services or 
advising the District on other matters), (v) the Bank and its 
affiliates have financial and other interests that differ from 
those of the District, and (vi) the District has consulted with its 
own financial, legal, accounting, tax and other advisors, as 
applicable, to the extent it deemed appropriate.  

 
WEBSITE DISCLOSURE: As a best practice to maintain transparency, final transaction 

documentation may be posted by the District on a national 
public market repository provided that certain information is 
redacted by the District as directed by the Bank.  Items that 
should be redacted include pricing, signatures/names, account 
numbers, wire transfer and payment instructions and any other 
data that could be construed as sensitive information.  

  
MISCELLANEOUS: Funding will occur upon receipt of all documentation required 

by Bank, in form and substance acceptable to Bank and its 
separate counsel.  
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MATERIAL CHANGE: Any change (whether material or not) in the aggregate amount 
to be financed or a material change in the financial condition 
or prospects of the District may constitute a re-pricing event 
and Bank may, at its option and in its sole discretion, terminate 
this Term Sheet and/or the Interest Rate may be adjusted.  

 
We appreciate your interest in us and look forward to your favorable response.  Should you have any questions 
regarding this Term Sheet, please contact me at (303) 641-9359 or via email at jessica.m.loscalzo@chase.com 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NA 
 
 
 
By:____________________________ 
Jessica Loscalzo 
Vice President 
2696 South Colorado Blvd, Floor 1 
Denver CO 80222-5945 
 
 
cc Sally Tasker 
    Butler Snow LLP 
    sally.tasker@butlersnow.com  
 
 
ACCEPTED BY: (for the) Upper San Juan Health Service District  
 
 
Option:           
 
By:            
 
Name:           
 
Title:           
 
Date:            
 
 
IRS Circular 230 Disclosure: Bank and its affiliates (collectively, “Chase”) do not provide tax advice.  
Accordingly, any discussion of U.S. tax matters contained herein (including any attachments) is not intended or 
written to be used, and cannot be used, in connection with the promotion, marketing or recommendation by 
anyone unaffiliated with Chase of any of the matters addressed herein or for the purpose of avoiding U.S. tax-
related penalties. 
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To PSMC To MRMC Rotor Standby Cancelled
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Oncology/Infusion:

Oncology Visits Infusion Encounters Oncology Infusions/Injections
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ED: 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

2022 653 477 639 536 619

2021 488 420 503 464 578 673 739 689 614 592 610 628
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Admits Transfers
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2021 29 45
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Inpatient :

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

2022 27 23 19 29 32

2021 33 21 24 30 38 33 28 29 17 23 30 22
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THE UPPER SAN JUAN HEALTH SERVICE DISTRICT  
DOING BUSINESS AS PAGOSA SPRINGS MEDICAL CENTER 

MEDICAL STAFF REPORT BY CHIEF OF STAFF, JOHN WISNESKI 
June 28, 2022 

I. STATEMENT OF THE MEDICAL STAFF’S RECOMMENDATIONS FOR THE USJHSD BOARD ACCEPTANCE
OF NEW POLICIES OR PROCEDURES ADOPTED BY THE MEDICAL STAFF:

RECOMMENDATION DESCRIPTION 
Medical Staff Policy: Content of Medical Staff Credentials 
File 

Revised Medical Staff Policy 

Medical Staff Policy: Performance Monitoring and Proctoring Revised Medical Staff Policy 

II. STATEMENT OF THE MEDICAL STAFF’S RECOMMENDATIONS FOR THE USJHSD BOARD ACCEPTANCE
OF PROVIDER PRIVILEGES (ACCEPTANCE BY THE BOARD RESULTS IN THE GRANT OF PRIVILEGES):

NAME INITIAL/REAPPOINT/CHANGE TYPE OF PRIVILEGES SPECIALTY 
Daniel Gillespie, MD Initial Appointment Telemedicine/Teleradiology Diagnostic Radiology 
Hope Beatte, MD Reappointment Telemedicine/Telepsychiatry Psychiatry 
Keith Dangleis, MD Reappointment Telemedicine/Teleradiology Diagnostic Radiology 
Mark Dennis, MD Reappointment Telemedicine/Teleradiology Diagnostic Radiology 
John Gilbert, MD Reappointment Telemedicine/Teleradiology Diagnostic Radiology 
Peter Stratil, MD Reappointment Telemedicine/Teleradiology Interventional Radiology/ 

Diagnostic Radiology 
Kenna Williams, MD Reappointment Courtesy/General Surgery Surgery 

III. REPORT OF NUMBER OF PROVIDERS BY CATEGORY
Active: 17
Courtesy: 23
Courtesy-Locum Tenens: 2
Telemedicine: 130
Advanced Practice Providers & Behavioral Health Providers: 12
Honorary: 1
Total: 185

WRITTEN REPORTS  4.b.ii
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UPPER SAN JUAN HEALTH SERVICE DISTRICT 
D/B/A PAGOSA SPRINGS MEDICAL CENTER 

Formal Written Resolution 2022-16 
June 28, 2022 

WHEREAS, auditor Dingus, Zarecor & Associates, PLLC has delivered to the Board of 
Directors of the Upper San Juan Health Service District d/b/a Pagosa Springs Medical 
Center its written and verbal report of the financial audit for fiscal year ending December 
31, 2021. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE UPPER SAN JUAN 
HEALTH SERVICE DISTRICT HEREBY RESOLVES to accept the audit report of 
Dingus, Zarecor & Associates, PLLC, titled:  Upper San Juan Health Service District 
doing business as Pagosa Springs Medical Center, Basic Financial Statements and 
Independent Auditors’ Report, December 31, 2021 and 2020 and letters attached thereto.   

ADOPTED and APPROVED by the Board of Directors this 28th day of June, 2022. 

_____________________________________________ 
Matt Mees, Chair of the Board of Directors  

DECISION AGENDA 6..





UPPER SAN JUAN HEALTH SERVICE DISTRICT 
D/B/A PAGOSA SPRINGS MEDICAL CENTER 

Formal Written Resolution 2022-17 (OPTION A) 
June 28, 2022 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Upper San Juan Health Service District d/b/a 
Pagosa Springs Medical Center has discussed and considered the due diligence information 
related to Pruitt Building. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE UPPER SAN JUAN 
HEALTH SERVICE DISTRICT HEREBY RESOLVES to proceed with the purchase 
of the Pruitt Building and authorize the Board Chair, the Vice Chair and/or CEO to execute 
such documents (including, without limitation, the term sheet for lease-purchase financing) 
and take such actions to close on the acquisition of the Pruitt Building. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED by the Board of Directors this 28th day of June, 2022. 

_____________________________________________ 
Matt Mees, Chair of the Board of Directors  

DECISION AGENDA 6.b.i.





UPPER SAN JUAN HEALTH SERVICE DISTRICT 
D/B/A PAGOSA SPRINGS MEDICAL CENTER 

Formal Written Resolution 2022-17 (OPTION B) 
June 28, 2022 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Upper San Juan Health Service District d/b/a 
Pagosa Springs Medical Center has discussed and considered the due diligence information 
related to Pruitt Building. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE UPPER SAN JUAN 
HEALTH SERVICE DISTRICT HEREBY RESOLVES not to proceed with the 
purchase of the Pruitt Building and authorize the Board Chair, the Vice Chair and/or CEO 
to execute such documents and take such actions, prior to July 1, 2022, to terminate the 
contract to purchase the Pruitt Building and secure the refund of the District’s $100,000 
earnest money deposit. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED by the Board of Directors this 28th day of June, 2022. 

_____________________________________________ 
Matt Mees, Chair of the Board of Directors  

DECISION AGENDA 6.b.ii.
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MINUTES OF REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
Tuesday, May 24, 2022 

5:30 PM 
The Board Room 

95 South Pagosa Blvd., Pagosa Springs, CO 81147 
 
The Board of Directors of the Upper San Juan Health Service District (the “Board”) held its regular board 
meeting on May 24, 2022, at Pagosa Springs Medical Center, The Board Room, 95 South Pagosa Blvd., 
Pagosa Springs, Colorado as well as via Zoom video communications. 

 
Directors Present: Vice-Chair Matt Mees, Treasurer-Secretary Mark Zeigler, Director Jason Cox, Director 
Kate Alfred, Director Martin Rose, and Director Barbara Parada. 

 
Present via Zoom: Director Dr. Jim Pruitt. 
 
Director(s) Absent: There were none. 
 

1) CALL TO ORDER 
a) Call for quorum: Vice-Chair Mees called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. MST and Clerk to the 

Board, Heather Thomas, recorded the minutes. A quorum of directors was present and 
acknowledged. 

b) Seat Board Members Elected on May 3, 2022: 
i) Clerk to the Board, Ms. Thomas, confirmed execution of Oath of Office for term of May 2022 

until the election in May 2025 for Kate Alfred, Jason Cox, Barbara Parada and Martin Rose. 
ii) Clerk to the Board, Ms. Thomas, affirmed all Directors are covered by the District’s Directors 

and Officers insurance policy. 
c) Board member self-disclosure of actual, potential or perceived conflicts of interest: There was none. 
d) Approval of the Agenda: Director Cox motioned to approve the agenda as presented. Upon motion 

seconded by Director Martin Rose, the Board unanimously approved the agenda.  
 

2) PUBLIC COMMENT 
  There was none. 
 

3) PRESENTATION:  
a) Recognition of Memi Fox, RN 

 COO-CNO Kathee Douglas introduced Memi Fox, RN as Trauma Nurse Coordinator and 
RN Manager of ED and Inpatient units. COO-CNO Douglas announced that Ms. Fox was awarded 
Trauma Nurse Coordinator of the Year for Level III and Level IV trauma centers by peers at UC 
Memorial in Colorado Springs. COO-CNO Douglas advised there are approximately 15 to 20 Level 
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III and Level IV trauma centers in the state. 
b) PSMC’s Quality Assurance Program 

 Compliance Officer for Pagosa Springs Medical Center, Anita Hooton, presented and 
discussed the 2022 Quality Assurance and Performance Improvement Plan. Questions were asked 
and answered.  

c) Antibiotic Stewardship 
 Employee Health and Infection Control RN for Pagosa Springs Medical Center, Carrie 
Emens, presented and discussed a PowerPoint presentation regarding Antibiotic Stewardship. 
Questions were asked and answered. 

  
4) REPORTS 

a) Oral Reports 
i) Chair Report 

 Vice-Chair Mees discussed the following Facilities updates: 
 The new MRI machine has had some initial operational issues, but is now successfully 

up and running. 
 Funds for 3D mammography machine have been raised and equipment ordered. 

Renovation plans for the room where the machine will be installed are prepared. It is 
hopeful that equipment will be delivered soon and installed, so it can be operational 
by the end of summer. 

 During COVID, in 2021, the need for oxygen regeneration was identified to assure 
continuity of patient care. Early stages of preparation for this project are currently 
underway of anticipation of a soil study to be conducted. Questions were asked and 
answered. 

 Staff are arranging to remove dead trees on the property. In addition, quotes are being 
requested for repairing, sealing and re-striping the parking lot to avoid an even greater 
future expense.  

 CAO, Ann Bruzzese, advised PSMC is under contract to purchase the Pruitt Building 
and 2.25 acres just north of the medical center subject to our objections for due 
diligence and lending terms. PSMC has arranged for inspection, appraisal, survey, 
title review, and lending options. All of the reports on these matters are due back to 
PSMC in time for the June Finance Committee meeting and the June Board 
meeting.  This Board will have decisions to make on the Pruitt building at the June 
meeting. 

ii) CEO Report 
 For the benefit of the two new Board members, CEO Dr. Webb presented and discussed a 
PowerPoint presentation giving an overview of PSMC’s accomplishments.  
 CEO Dr. Webb advised of the following updates: 

 There has been an increase in the number of patients that have tested positive for 
COVID and flu, as well as the norovirus.  

 There has been an increase in applicants and hiring. The need for traveler staffing 
continues in the areas of laboratory, nursing and radiology. 

 There is a nation-wide shortage of contrast fluid used to inject in patients for CT/CAT 
scans.  

 PSMC has an ambulance staged at the Plumtaw fire for medical support. 
 PSMC’s EMS has supplied the Archuleta County Sheriff’s Department with AED 

machines and training for their patrol vehicles because ACSD often arrives first to a 
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scene.  
Questions were asked and answered. 

iii) Executive Committee 
 There was no report. 

iv) Foundation Committee 
 There was no report. 

v) Facilities Committee 
 Presented by Vice-Chair Mees during the Chair Report agenda item. 

vi) Strategic Planning Committee 
 There was no report. 

vii) Finance Committee & Report 
 CFO Chelle Keplinger then presented and discussed the PowerPoint presentation regarding 
financials for April 2022. 
 On behalf of the Finance Committee, Treasurer-Secretary Zeigler advised the Board that at 
the start of COVID (in 2020), PSMC received an advance of Medicare payments. PSMC applies 
the advance to sums due by Medicare to PSMC for services, and if in September, we have any 
surplus of the advance, PSMC will return the surplus to Medicare.  Treasurer-Secretary Zeigler 
then stated the Finance Committee’s recommendation to the Board to accept the financials as 
presented.  
 Questions were asked and answered.   

b) Written Reports 
i) Operations Report  

 Treasurer-Secretary Zeigler asked a question regarding the reported numbers for Oncology. 
COO-CNO Douglas answered.  

ii) Medical Staff Report 
 There were no questions  

 
5) DECISION AGENDA 

a) Resolution 2022-14 
Director Dr. Pruitt motioned to accept Resolution 2022-14 regarding acceptance of the Quality 

Assurance and Performance Improvement Plan. Upon motion seconded by Director Cox, the Board 
unanimously adopted said resolution. 

b) Resolution 2022-15 
Director Cox gave an overview of Resolution 2022-15.  
Director Rose motioned to accept Resolution 2022-15 regarding support for broadband grant by 

Archuleta County Broadband Services Management Office. Upon motion seconded by Director 
Parada, the Board unanimously adopted said resolution. 

 
6) CONSENT AGENDA 

Director Parada and Director Rose abstained themselves from approving the minutes of the regular 
meeting of 04/26/2022, due to not being on the Board at that time. 

Director Cox motioned to approve the regular meeting minutes of 04/26/2022, and the Medical 
Staff report recommendations for new or renewal of provider privileges. 

Upon motion seconded by Director Alfred, the Board approved said consent agenda items with 
noted abstention of Directors Parada and Rose. 

 
7) EXECUTIVE SESSION 

  The Board did not meet in executive session. 
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8) OTHER BUSINESS 
a) Election of Officers for each of the Board offices. 

 Director Dr. Pruitt motioned to elect Matt Mees as Chair, Jason Cox as Vice-Chair and Mark 
Zeigler to remain as Treasurer-Secretary. Director Cox stated he would decline the nomination due 
to his inability to allocate sufficient time to the position and then motioned to elect Matt Mees as 
Chair, Kate Alfred as Vice-Chair and Mark Zeigler to remain as Treasurer-Secretary. 
 Director Dr. Pruitt withdrew his motion. Treasurer-Secretary Zeigler then seconded the 
motion presented by Director Cox. Upon motion seconded, the Board unanimously approved the 
election of Matt Mees as Chair, Kate Alfred as Vice-Chair and Mark Zeigler as Treasurer-Secretary.  
 Chair Mees advised the Board of the four committees to which no more than two Board 
Members are assigned: the Foundation Committee, Facilities Committee, Strategic Planning 
Committee and the Finance Committee. Chair Mees stated that he will be considering designations 
to those committees within the next couple of weeks.  
 

9) ADJOURN 
  There being no further business, Chair Mees adjourned the regular meeting at 6:48 p.m. MST. 

 
Respectfully submitted by: 
Heather Thomas, serving as Clerk to the Board 
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